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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

Board of Directors 
Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health -
Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates 
Maysville, Kentucky 

Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Comprehend, Inc. Regional 
Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates (the "Organization"), which are comprised 
of the consolidated statements of financial position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related 
consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates as of 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health -
Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Comprehend, Inc. 
Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates' ability to continue as a going 
concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are available to be issued. 

Cincinnati, OH 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and 
Affiliates' internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, 
Inc. and Affiliates' ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole. The consolidating financial statements and other supplemental schedules presented on pages 26-
31 are presented for the purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the consolidated 
financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards presented on pages 
32-33, as required by Title 2 US. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial 
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statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 22, 2024 
on our consideration of Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and 
Affiliates' internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health 
- Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates' internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates' 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Kfjlt~IL ~~ /J-,.kbA / M~f~ ✓ psc. 
Ashla:~1entu;;v-7 • - - •• d 
November 22, 2024 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH 
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
JUNE, 30 2024 AND 2023 

June 30, 

2024 
ASSETS 

Current Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,339,669 
Accounts receivable - clients, net of allowance for credit 

losses of$478,187 and $585,172, respectively 647,416 
Accounts receivable - grants and contracts 302,631 

Prepaid expenses and other assets 149,904 

Total current assets 2,439,620 

Other Assets: 
Investments 2,038,784 

Certificates of deposit 1,213,663 
Restricted deposits and funded reserves 203,297 

Art held for sale 210,000 

Leverage loans receivable 3,870,717 

Total other assets 7,536,461 

Right of use assets, net 108,883 

Property and equipment, net 7,666,655 

Total assets $ 17,751,619 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 
Current Liabilities: 

Accounts payable $ 148,034 
Accrued payroll and related expenses 254221 

Accrued vacation pay and sick leave 259,843 

Other liabilities 4,056 

Deferred revenue 85,710 
Current maturities of operating lease obligations 30.054 
Current maturities of long-term debt 7.291.156 

Total current liabilities 8.073.074 

Operating lease obligations, less current maturities 78.829 

Long-term debt less current maturities 3.634.762 

Total liabilities 11.786.665 

Net Assets: 

With donor restrictions 210.000 

Without donor restrictions 5.754.954 

Total net assets 5.964.954 

Total liabilities and net assets $ 17.751.619 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are 

an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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June 30, 
2023 

$ 2,659,583 

591,519 

355,555 

161,293 

3,767,950 

1,971,754 

1,372,347 
195,752 

3,870,717 

7,410,570 

169,872 

7,720,183 

$ 19,068,575 

$ 102,800 
265,403 

295,795 
4,056 

134,846 

64,578 
163,446 

1,030,924 

105,294 

I 0,828,835 

I l.965,053 

7.103.522 

7.103.522 

$ 19.068.575 



COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH 
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATED ST A TEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 

WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS: 

Revenues and Support: 

Net client service revenue 

State and local grants 

In-kind donations 

Interest income 

Investment income (loss) 

Unrealized gains (losses) on investments 

Workshop sales 

Rental income 

Other income 

Fundraising income 

Total revenues and support 

Program Expenses: 

Behavioral Health 

Intellectual Development 

Housing 

Total Program Expenses 

Supporting Services Expenses: 

Management and general 
Fundraising 

Total Supporting Services Expenses 

Total Expenses 

Change in net assets without donor restrictions 

WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS: 

Contribution income 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions 

Change in net assets 

Net assets, beginning of year 

$ 

June 30, 
2024 

8,030,551 

1,525,296 

81,889 

178,257 
(24,982) 

62,191 

44,242 
251,477 

387,082 

60,062 

10,596,065 

6,869,083 

1,286,645 

817,749 

8,973,477 

2,963,030 

8,126 

2,971,156 

I 1,944,633 

(1,348,568) 

210,000 

210,000 

(I, 138,568) 

7, I 03,522 

$ 

June 30, 

2023 

8,983,726 

2,161,336 

40,997 

59,695 

25,838 

(13,113) 

41,405 

251,600 
1,226,883 

10,715 

12,789,082 

6,149,290 

1,336,374 

1,290,881 

8,776,545 

3,134,810 

10,000 

3,144,810 

11,92 I ,355 

867,727 

867,727 

6,235.795 

Net assets. end of year $ 5.964,954 $ 7, I 03,522 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are 

an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Payroll and fringe benefits 

Transportation and travel 
Rentals 
Program supplies 
Repairs and maintenance 
Depreciation 
Purchased services 
Communications and utilities 
l nterest 
Other expenses 

Totals 

Behavioral 
Health 

$ 5,646,485 

198 

272,520 

137,815 

55,539 

353,167 

50,923 

352,436 

$ 6,869,083 

COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH 

MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

2024 

Progran1_ Services Supporting Services --

Total 
Intellectual Program General and 

Development Housing Services Administrative Fundraising 

$ 753,684 $ 552,107 $ 6,952,276 $ 1,324,744 $ 
2,179 2,377 

34,800 34,800 
20,844 101,697 395,061 87,810 
13,356 21,389 172,560 127,447 
15,907 19,739 91,185 384,069 
15,507 28,590 397,264 401,271 
18,066 45,771 114,760 192,486 

455,803 
412,302 48,456 813,194 ( I 0,600) 8,126 

$ l ,286,645 $ 817,749 $ 8,973,477 $ 2,963,030 $ 8,126 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Total 
Support Total 
Services ~enses 

$ 1,324,744 $ 8,277,020 

2,377 

34,800 
87,810 482,871 

127,447 300,007 

384,069 475,254 

401,271 798,535 

192,486 307,246 

455,803 455,803 

__ (2,474) 810,720 

$2,971,156 $11,944,633 



Pavroll and l'rin°e benefits - ::;, 

Transportation and travel 

Rentals 

Program supplies 

Repairs and maintenance 

Depreciation 

Purchased services 

Communications and utilities 

1 nterest 

Other expenses 

Totals 

COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH 
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES (CONCLUDED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

2023 

Program Services Supporting Services 

Total 

Behavioral Intellectual Program General and 
Health Development Housing Services Administrative Fundraising 

$ 5,299,361 $ 862,850 $ 848,037 $ 7,010,248 $ 1,403,408 $ 

6,857 3,856 42 I 0,755 1,767 

31,122 31,122 
203,593 20,558 81,386 305,537 95,615 

90,760 18,936 36,766 146,462 (5,992) 
39,395 16,111 61,109 116,615 291,978 

347,228 14,819 32,726 394,773 417,098 
67,909 17,762 58,036 143,707 265,966 

55,665 55,665 408,535 
94,187 350,360 117,114 561,661 256,435 10,000 

$ 6,149,290 $1,336,374 $ 1,290,881 $ 8,776,545 $ 3,134,810 $ 10,000 

Total 

Support 

Services 

$ 1,403,408 

1,767 

95,615 

(5,992) 

291,978 

417,098 

265,966 

408,535 

266,435 

$ 3,144,810 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an itengral part of these consolidated statements. 
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Total 

Expenses -

$ 8,413,656 

12,522 

31,122 

401,152 

140,470 

408,593 

811,871 

409,673 

464,200 

828,096 

$11,921,355 



COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL IIEALTII 

MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities: 

Change in net assets 

Adjustments -

Depreciation 

(Gain) loss on disposal of assets 

Unrealized (gain) loss on investments 

(Gain) loss on sale of investments 

Forgiveness of PRF payable 

Amortization of deferred financing costs 

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities -

Accounts receivable - client 

Accounts receivable - grants and contracts 

Prepaid expenses and other assets 

Accounts payable 

Accrued payroll and related expenses 

Accrued vacation pay and sick leave 

Other liabilities 

Deferred revenue 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities: 

Purchase of property and equipment 

Increase in certificates of deposits 

Proceeds from the disposal of assets 

Proceeds from the sale of investments 

Purchase of investments 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities: 

Acquisition of art held for sale 

Payments on long-term debt 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents. end of year 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Restricted deposits and funded reserves 

Cash and cash equivalents. encl of year 

Supplemental data: 
Interest paid 

Lease assets obtained in exchange for 

lease obligations - operating 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 

2024 

(Ll38.568) 

472,524 
(143,483) 

(62,191) 
63,689 

97,240 
(106,985) 

48,097 
52.924 
26,880 
32,734 

(11,182) 
(35,952) 

(49,136) 

(753,409) 

(451,526) 
158,684 
176,013 
931,316 

(999,844) 

(185,357) 

(210.000) 

( 163.603) 

(373.603) 

( 1.312.369) 

2.855.335 

1.542.966 

1.339.669 
203.297 

1.542.966 

361.292 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are 
an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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June 30, 

2023 

867,727 

408,593 

(261,277) 
13,113 

(645,311) 

97,240 
550,874 

(428,297) 
(164,717) 

82.968 
(84,815) 

(119,141) 

LIO! 
(733) 

87,577 

404,902 

(263,575) 
(3,307) 

461,909 

(35,468) 

159,559 

(155,206) 

( 155.206) 

409.255 

2.446.080 

2.855.335 

2.659.583 

195.752 

2.855.335 

192.215 

138.845 



COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH -
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note (1)- Organization 

Description of Business 

Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. ("Comprehend") is a 
community mental health - mental retardation agency which provides planning, coordination and direct 
delivery of mental health, substance abuse and developmental and intellectual disability services, primarily 
on an outpatient basis at various locations throughout a five-county area in northeast Kentucky. 

It is Comprehend's mission to enhance the well-being ofindividuals, families and communities by advocating 
for and providing behavioral healthcare services in a welcoming and caring environment. Comprehend is 
committed to serving as a resource to assist people with disabilities and their families to be the decision 
makers in their own lives and to build a solid path toward self-determination. 

It is affiliated through common management and control with Comprehend Properties, Inc. ("Properties"), 
a nonprofit corporation which was organized to operate independent living apartments in Maysville, 
Kentucky. Operations of these apartments are supported by rent subsidies provided by the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"). 

Comprehend is affiliated with CI Holding Corporation ("Holdings"), a nonprofit corporation, formed to 
construct and operate a new facility to provide clinical and administrative services for Comprehend. 
Holdings is affiliated through common management and control with Comprehend. 

Comprehend is affiliated with Comprehend Parking Properties, Inc. ("Parking"), a corporation, formed in 
November 2021 to acquire the parking lot adjacent to Comprehend's Maysville clinic and administrative 
building. Parking is affiliated through common management and control with Comprehend. 

Principles of Consolidation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Comprehend, Properties, Holdings and Parking, the consolidated group herein referred to as the 
"Organization." All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

Description of Programs 

Behavioral Health 

Behavioral health provides a full array of programs and services to adults and children who are experiencing 
mental health and addiction problems. Traditional outpatient services are offered in the form of individual, 
group and family therapy onsite and offsite by highly trained and skilled therapists. Board certified, board 
eligible psychiatrists and advanced practice registered nurses provide psychiatric evaluations and 
medication management services. Day services to adults are provided through clubhouse model and day 
services to children are provided through specialized children's summer programs. 

Housing Services 

Residential support is provided to individuals through three staffed residences (two operational and one 
non-operational) housing a total of 7 individuals, and one Family Home Provider, providing support 
services for individuals with developmental disabilities. 

Comprehend Properties, a subsidiary of Comprehend, provides low-income housing apartments subsidized 
by the federal government HUD (Housing and Urban Development) division. 
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Intellectual Development Services 

Intellectual developmental services provide an array of flexible support for children and adults who have 
intellectual and developmental disabilities. 

Using person-centered processes, support plans are developed in partnership with the individual and his/her 
family. Support includes, but is not limited to the following: support coordination, crisis 
prevention/response, person-centered planning, community employment, respite, community resource 
development, independent and supported living and behavior support. 

Note (2)- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation - The consolidated financial statements of the Organization have been prepared on the 
accrual basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(F ASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958, and the provisions of the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) "Audit and Accounting Guide for Not-for-Profit Organizations" (the 
"Guide"). 

Under the provisions of the Guide, net assets and revenues, and gains and losses are classified based on the 
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, the net assets of the Organization and 
changes therein are classified as follows: 

Net assets without donor restrictions: Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions 
and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Organization. The 
Organization's board may designate assets without restrictions for specific operational purposes from 
time to time. 

Net assets with donor restrictions: Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors, and grantors. 
Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be met by actions of the 
Organization or by the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual in nature, where by the 
donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetuity. Net assets with donor restrictions at June 
30, 2024 or 2023 were $210,000 and $-0-, respectively. 

Cash Equivalents - The Organization considers investments purchased with a maturity of three months or 
less, and which are not designated by the Board of Directors for a special purpose, to be cash equivalents. 

Client Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts - Client accounts receivable are stated 
at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. Management provides for 
uncollectible accounts through a charge to contractual allowance and a credit to an allowance for 
uncollectible accounts receivable based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts. 
Balances that are still outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts are written off 
through a charge to the allowance and a credit to accounts receivable. 

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are recorded at cost, if purchased, or fair market value at 
date of gift, if donated. The Organization has a policy of capitalizing property and equipment purchases 
greater than $500 and a useful life of more than one year. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - Management of the Organization reviews for the impairment oflong­
lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash flows expected 
to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. There were 
no charges for impairment oflong-lived assets during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 or 2023. 
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Deferred Revenues - Contract revenues in advance of performance of services are deferred and recognized 
in revenues when services are performed. 

Deferred Financing Costs - Deferred financing costs are being amortized using the straight-line method over 
the term of the mortgage and note payable. Amortization expense for each of the years ended June 30, 2024 
and 2023 was $97,240. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
("GAAP") required financing costs to be amortized over the term of the loan utilizing the effective interest 
method; however, the difference between the effective interest and straight-line method is immaterial to the 
consolidated financial statements and is reported in interest expense as required by GAAP. 

Client Service Revenues, Net Patient Service Revenue, and Allowance For Credit Losses- Revenue from 
services billed under Medicaid is recognized at the time services are provided on a fee-for-service basis 
using rates established by the Commonwealth of Kentucky. Charges for services rendered to eligible clients 
under the Kentucky Cabinet for Health and Family Services contract are recorded at rates established by the 
Commonwealth. These Medicaid and contractual rates are determined prospectively by the 
Commonwealth utilizing the annual cost reports submitted by the Organization. 

Such reports and the eligibility of clients under the program are subject to regulatory audit by state and/or 
local agencies. Although rates are determined prospectively, the regulatory agencies retain the authority to 
adjust amounts due to the Organization under certain circumstances. 

Other client service revenues are recorded at rates established by the Organization. Contractual adjustments 
and allowances are recorded as deductions from revenues based upon an assessment of the client's ability 
to pay for services or based upon the terms of agreements with the respective third-party payers. 

Support for client services provided under contract with the Commonwealth of Kentucky Department for 
Behavioral Health, Developmental and Intellectual Disabilities are being advanced to the Organization 
ratably over the fiscal year. 

Payors include federal and state agencies, including Medicare and Medicaid, managed care health plans, 
commercial insurance companies and clients. The Commonwealth of Kentucky contracts with several 
managed care organizations ("MCO") to pay providers for services rendered to Medicaid recipients. For the 
five-county area the Organization serves, recipients have the option of choosing to receive services through 
one of various MCOs: Aetna, Wellcare of Kentucky, United Healthcare, Passport Health Plan by Molina 
Healthcare, Anthem, and Humana. Comprehend also renders services to clients with Ohio Medicaid by 
accepting traditional Ohio Medicaid (Gainwell) and Ohio Medicaid Managed Care Organizations: 
Buckeye Health Plan, Paramount Health Plan, Monlina of Ohio, and CareSource of Ohio Medicaid. 

Performance obligations for patient service revenue are determined based on the nature of the services provided 
by the Organization. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual 
charges incurred in relation to total expected ( or actual) charges. The Organization believes that this method 
provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance obligation based on 
the inputs needed to satisfy the obligation. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to both 
the Organization's mental health services and substance abuse services. The Organization measures the 
performance obligation from the commencement of a service to the point when it is no longer required to 
provide services to that individual. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is generally 
recognized when services are provided to an individual and the Organization does not believe it is required to 
provide additional services to the individual. Currently the Organization has no patient service revenue that 
they deem to be point in time. The Organization recognizes their other revenue at a point in time as that is 
when it is deemed to be earned. 

The Organization records gross patient service charges on the accrual basis in the period that the services are 
rendered. Payments for services rendered to patients covered by Medicare, Kentucky Medicaid Assistance 
Programs and other government programs are generally less than billed charges and, therefore, provisions for 
contractual adjustments are made to reduce gross patient service charges to the estimated cash receipts based 
on each program's principles of payment/reimbursement (i.e., either prospectively determined or 
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retrospectively determined costs). Estimates of contractual allowances for services rendered to patients 
covered by commercial insurance, including managed care health plans, are primarily based on the payment 
terms of contractual arrangements, such as predetermined rates per diagnosis, per diem rates or a discounted 
fee for service rates. 

The Organization is a provider of some services whereby the Organization is paid on a cost reimbursement 
methodology. The Organization is reimbursed at a tentative rate with final settlement determined after 
submission of an annual cost report. Estimated amounts due to or from the Organization in settlement of patient 
accounts on which interim payments have been received or provided for are recorded as a cost report receivable 
or payable. 

Revenue and receivables from government programs are significant to the Organization's operations; however, 
the Organization does not believe that there are substantive credit risks associated with such programs. There 
are no other concentrations of revenue or accounts receivable with any individual payor that is subject to 
significant credit or other risks. Historically, government payors, managed care health plans and other 
commercial payors have not significantly affected the Organization's provision for credit losses. 

In the ordinary course of business, the Organization provides services to patients who are financially unable to 
pay for their care. Accounts identified as charity and indigent care are not recognized in net revenue. The 
Organization maintains a company-wide policy whereby patient account balances are characterized as charity 
and indigent care only if the patient meets certain income guidelines. The Organization pursues payments on 
accounts receivable from patients who do not meet such criteria. For uninsured self-pay patients who do not 
qualify for charity and indigent care treatment, the Organization recognizes net revenue using standard gross 
patient service charges. 

The Organization has determined that the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
are affected by the following factors: payors (Medicare, Medicaid, commercial insurance, etc.), length of 
patient's service plan, geography, and line of business that provided the service (i.e. mental health services 
or substance abuse services, etc.). 

Patient receivables for which a third-party payor is responsible for paying, are carried at a net amount 
determined by the original charge for the service provided, less an estimate made for contractual fee 
adjustments or discounts provided to third-party payors. 

Patient receivables due directly from the patients are carried at the original charge for the service provided, 
less amounts covered by third-party payors and less an estimated allowance for credit losses. Management 
determines the allowance for contractual adjustments, discounts and credit losses by identifying troubled 
accounts and by historical experience applied to an aging of accounts. Patient receivables are written off 
when the collectability of the account is known. 

Subsequent adjustments to accounts receivable determined to be the result of an adverse change in the 
payor' s ability to pay are recognized as provisions for credit losses. These provisions are treated as an 
implicit price concessions factored into the determination of net patient service revenue. Collection 
procedures include review of account aging and direct contact with the pay or. The Organization historically 
has not used collection agencies. An uncollectible amount is written off to the allowance account after 
reasonable collection efforts have been exhausted. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the allowance for credit 
losses balance was $478,187 and $585,172, respectively. 

Government Grants - Support funded by grants is recognized as the Organization performs the contracted 
services or incurs outlays eligible for reimbursement under the grant agreements. Grant activities and 
outlays are subject to audit and acceptance by the granting agency and, as a result of such audit, could be 
adjusted. Certain restricted grant support received and earned within the same period is recorded as support 
without donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities. 

- 13 -



Revenues from Rental Activities - Rentals are reported in operating revenues as earned over the terms of 
the leases, which are accounted for as operating leases. Substantially all of Properties' leases are for periods 
of one year or less. 

Contributions - Contributions received are recorded as support with or without donor restrictions, depending 
on the existence and/or nature of any donor-imposed restrictions. Donor restricted contributions whose 
restrictions are met within the same year as received are recorded as support without donor restrictions. 

In-Kind Donations - Donated services and supplies are reflected in other income as contributions at their 
estimated values and are recorded as expenses for program services. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The carrying amounts for current assets and liabilities approximate 
their fair value due to their short maturity. The carrying amounts oflong-term debt approximate their fair 
values based upon current interest rates available for similar types of instruments. 

Income Taxes - Comprehend and its Affiliates are exempt from federal and/or state income taxes under 
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and/or Section 141.0l0(l)(f) of the Kentucky Revised 
Statutes with the exception of Parking which is not exempt under Section 50l(c)(3). Comprehend and its 
Affiliates had no unrelated business income for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 or 2023. Accordingly, 
no provision for income taxes has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

GAAP prescribes a comprehensive model for how an organization should measure, recognize, present and 
disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that an organization has taken or expects to take 
on a tax return. Management has analyzed the tax positions taken by the Organization and has concluded 
that as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, there are no uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken that 
would require recognition of a liability or disclosure in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Allocation of Functional Expenses - The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have 
been summarized in the consolidated statements of functional expenses. Accordingly, certain costs have 
been allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited. Management estimates the expense 
allocations based on an allocation of employee hours, and other expenses by billable service and by the 
percentage of square footage for the benefited programs or functions. 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and support, 
expenses, gains, losses and other changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Advertising -Advertising costs are expenses as incurred. Advertising expense was $18,961 and $25,427 
for 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Leases - Leases are classified as operating or finance lease at the lease commencement date. The 
Organization leases certain equipment and office space. The Organization records leases on the 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position in the form of a lease liability for the present value of future 
minimum payments under the lease terms and a right-of-use asset equal to the lease liability adjusted for 
items such as deferred or prepaid rent, lease incentives, and any impairment of the right-of-use asset. The 
discount rate used in determining the lease liability is based upon risk-free rate as of the date of 
commencement or renewal. The Organization does not record leases on the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position that are classified as short term (less than one year). 

At lease inception, the Organization determines the lease term by considering the minimum lease term and 
all optional renewal periods that the Organization is reasonably certain to renew. The lease term is also 
used to calculate straight-line rent expense. The depreciable life of leasehold improvements is limited by 
the estimated lease term, including renewals if they are reasonably certain to be renewed. The 
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Organization's leases do not contain residual value guarantees or material variable lease payments that will 
cause the Organization to incur additional expenses. 

Operating lease expense consists of a single lease cost allocated over the remaining lease term on a straight­
line basis, variable lease payments not included in the lease liability, and any impairment of the right-of­
use asset. 

The Organization has elected to treat property leases that include both lease and non-lease components as 
a single component and account for it as a lease. 

Reclassifications - Certain accounts in the prior year consolidated financial statements have been 
reclassified for comparative purposes to conform with the presentation of the current year consolidated 
financial statements. These reclassifications did not affect net assets nor the change in net assets. 

New Accounting Standards 

Effective July 1, 2023, the Organization adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses 
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, which modifies the 
measurement of expected credit losses on certain financial instruments. The Organization adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. Topic 326 requires measurement and 
recognition of expected versus incurred losses for financial assets held. Financial assets held by the 
Organization that are subject to ASU 2016-13 include patient accounts receivable, grants and contracts 
receivable, notes receivable from related parties and investments. The adoption of this ASU did not have a 
material impact on the Organization's consolidated financial statements. 

Note (3)-Concentrations of Credit Risk 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Organization maintains bank accounts, cash, cash equivalents and certificates of deposit in several 
commercial banks located in the Maysville, Kentucky area. These bank accounts, cash, cash equivalents 
and certificates of deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to 
$250,000. The Organization's cash, cash equivalents and certificates of deposit are further collateralized 
by the pledge of investments. As of June 30, 2024, the bank balances of the Organization's cash, cash 
equivalents and certificates of deposit was $2,821,622. Of the bank balances, $1,701,296 was covered by 
FDIC insurance, $905,192 was covered by pledged investments with the remaining $215,134 being 
unsecured. 

The certificates of deposit are bear interest rates ranging from 4.25% to 5.45% and mature on various dates. 

Client Service Revenues 

The Organization grants credit without collateral to its clients, most of whom are local residents and are 
insured under third-party payor agreements. Client service revenues consist of the following: 

Kentucky Department of Behavioral Health, 
Division of Developmental and Intellectual 
Disabilities 

Medicaid 
Support of community living 
Commercial insurance 
Medicare 
Client 
Comp Tran (Transportation services) 
Other 
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$ 

2024 

3,463,608 
3,872,880 

983,340 
393,322 

67,591 
186,483 
325,809 
252,168 

9,545,201 

2023 

$ 2,998,603 
5,290,741 
1,521,626 

582,555 
79,289 

354,486 
334,161 
217,320 

11,378,781 



Less provision for contractual and charity 
allowances, and uncollectible accounts 

Net client service revenues 
(1,514,650) 

$ 8,030,551 $ 

The mix of client accounts receivable from third-party payors are as follows: 

2024 
Medicaid 

Wellcare of Kentucky $ 104,346 $ 
Anthem 81,004 
MHNet 293,729 
Humana 43,321 
Other managed care organizations 130,794 

SCL Medicaid 175,162 
Medicare 26,360 
State grants 302,631 
Client - self pay 126,025 
Commercial insurance and other 144,862 
Total accounts receivable 1,428,234 
Less: Allowance for credit losses (478,187) 

$ 950,047 $ 

(2,395,055) 
8,983,726 

2023 

180,888 
66,043 

197,192 
80,319 

193,654 
131,164 

15,004 
355,555 
201,528 
110,899 

1,532,246 
(585,172) 
947,074 

Total gross client accounts receivable as June 30, 2022 was $748,394, less allowance for credit losses of 
$34,298 for a net client accounts receivable of $714,096. Total gross accounts receivable - grants and 
contracts as of June 30, 2022 was $190,838 with $-0- allowance for credit losses. 

Note (4)-Allowance For Credit Losses 

Changes in the allowance for credit losses during the years ending June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows: 

Balance, July 1, 2022 
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses 
Balance, June 30, 2023 
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses 
Balance, June 30, 2024 

Note (5)-Restricted Deposits and Funded Reserves 

Accounts 
Receivable 

$ 34,298 
550 874 
585,172 

(106,985) 
$ 478,187 

Under the terms of the mortgage agreement with Midland Loan Services, LLC and the HUD Regulatory 
Agreement, Properties is required to set aside specified amounts for the replacement of property and other 
project expenditures as approved by HUD. Restricted Funds, which amounted to $203,297 and $195,752 at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are held in separate accounts and generally are not available for 
operating purposes. 

Note (6)- Leverage Loans Receivable 

Leverage loans receivable consists of receivables supporting and documenting the uses of proceeds from 
a note payable to U.S. Bank (see Note (10)) used to leverage additional investments in the construction of 
a new building by Holdings and to qualify for New Market Tax Credits. The leverage loans consist of the 
following at June 30, 2024 and 2023: 
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USBCDC Investment Fund 190, LLC 
(State Investment Fund) 

USBCDC Investment Fund 248, LLC 
(Federal Investment Fund) 

$ 3,352,484 

518,233 
$ 3,870,717 

Both loans bear interest at 1 % receivable monthly, with principal due in June 2025, and are unsecured. 

These leverage loans represent collateral for the note payable to U.S. Bank, (see Note (10)). 

Note (7) - Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consist of the following: 

Land 
Buildings and improvements 
Furniture and computer equipment 
Vehicles 

Less accumulated depreciation 

2024 
$ 225,562 $ 

9,738,818 
739,328 
540 549 

11,244,257 
(3,577,602) 

$ 7,666,665 $ 

2023 
225,562 

9,695,056 
959,544 
252,820 

11,132,982 
(3,412, 799) 
7,720,183 

Land, buildings and improvements for the years ended June 31, 2024 and 2023 include independent living 
apartments having a cost of $1,345,738 and $1,312,835 with related accumulated depreciation of 
$1,094,413 and $1,057,487, respectively. 

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Organization sold the POE Second Street property. During the 
year ended June 30, 2023, the Organization sold the Lewisburg, Washington, Rectorville and Robertson 
properties. 

Note (8)-Investments 

Investments are stated at fair value. Fair values and unrealized gain (loss), are summarized as follows: 

June 30, 2024 
Money market funds 
Certificates of deposit 

Total investments 

June 30, 2023 
Money market funds 
Mutual funds / ETFs 
Certificates of deposit 

Total investments 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Cost 
22,225 

2,021,000 
2,043,225 

Cost 
153,381 
995,005 
890,000 

2,038,386 

Fair Value 
$ 22,225 $ 

2,016,559 
$ 2,038,784 $ 

Fair Value 
$ 153,381 $ 

938,583 
879 790 

$ 1,971,754 $ 

For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, investment return consists of the following: 

2024 
Investment income 
Loss on sale of investments 
Broker's fees 
Unrealized gains (losses) 
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$ 38,707 
(63,689) 
(4,464) 
62,191 

$ 32,745 

Unrealized 
Gain (Loss} 

(4,441). 
(4,441) 

Unrealized 
Gain (Loss} 

(56,422) 
(10,210) 
(66,632) 

2023 
$ 25,838 

(6,564) 
(6,564) 

(13,113) 
$ 6,161 



Broker's fees recorded in expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Activities were $4,464 and $6,564 for 
the years ended June 30 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Note (9) - Lines of Credit 

The Organization had a line of credit with Peoples Bank of Ohio to provide funds for operating purposes. 
The line of credit has a maximum borrowing of $200,000, with a 3% fixed rate, and was collateralized by 
the Organization's certificates of deposit. The line of credit expired in August 2023. The outstanding 
balance of the line of credit is $0 at June 30, 2023. The line of credit was not renewed upon expiration. 

Note (10)-Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt consists of the following: 

Mortgage payable to Midland Loan 
Services, in monthly installments of 
$6,818, including interest at 6.98% 
through January 2042 

Note payable to US Bank, in monthly 
installments of $27,195, including interest 
at 5.44%, through May 2025 

Note payable to CHHS subsidiary CDE 39, 
LLC, in monthly interest only payments at 
1. 72%, with principal due in May 2025 

Note payable to CHHS subsidiary CDE 39, 
LLC, in monthly interest only payments at 
1. 72%, with principal due in May 2048 

Note payable to CHHS subsidiary CDE 39, 
LLC, in monthly interest only payments at 
1. 72%, with principal due in May 2048 

Less deferred financing costs, net of 
accumulated amortization of $630,574 (2024) 
and $533,334 (2023) 

Less current maturities 

$ 

June 30 
2024 

888,802 $ 

3,373,630 

3,870,717 

2,105,100 

814,183 

(126,514) 
10,925,918 
(7,291,156) 

$ 3.634,762 $ 

2023 

916,556 

3,509,479 

3,870,717 

2,105,100 

814,183 

(223,754) 
10,992,281 

(163,446) 
10.828.835 

Mortgage payable to Midland Loan Services is collateralized by real estate of Properties, and by certain 
cash funds, accounts receivable, revenue and other assets associated with the independent living apartments 
in Maysville, Kentucky. 

Note payable to US Bank is collateralized by real estate and leverage loans receivable of Comprehend. 

Notes payable to CHHS Subsidiary CDE 39, LLC are collateralized by real estate and cash amounts of 
Holdings. 

Aggregate annual principal requirements for long-term debt are summarized as follows the year ended June 
30: 
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2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 
Thereafter 
Total loan balance 
Less: Deferred financing costs 
Total 

$ 7,291,156 
136,111 
139,700 
143,586 
147,629 

3,194,250 
11,052,432 

(126,514) 
$ 10,925,918 

Certain financial covenants are required by the note payable to US Bank. In the event of default, the bank 
may declare the ent.ire unpaid principal balance of the note to be immediately payable, together with accrued 
and unpaid interest on the loan, unless subsequently waived in writing by the bank. The Organization was 
not in compliance with the certain financial ratio covenants as of June 30, 2024. US Bank has provided a 
letter dated October 17, 2024 stating that they do not plan to call the loan prior to the May 1, 2025 maturity 
date. 

Note (11)-In-kind Donations 

The Organization runs a thrift and consignment store called Another Man's Treasure, where donated, gently 
used items are sold and participants in the Intellectual Developmental Program are provided on-the-job 
training, including sorting and selling the items. The Organization's in-kind donations consisted of 
donations of clothing and related items for the thrift store of $29,765 and $40,997 for the year ended June 
30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Donated thrift store items are recorded at their fair value. No in-kind 
donations were restricted. 

The Organization receives the use of donated occupancy rent free for some of its program operations. This 
rent-free occupancy primarily occurs at various schools in the counties being serviced by the Organization 
for the treatment of students. Beginning in the year ended June 30, 2024, the Organization recognized in­
kind contribution revenue and a corresponding expense in an amount approximating the estimated fair value 
at the time of the donation. Fair value is estimated using the typical cost that the school would charge to 
rent the space. The Organization recorded in-kind donated occupancy space in the amount of $52,124 for 
the year ended June 30, 2024. 

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, the Organization received a contribution of artwork in the 
amount of$210,000. The donated art was recognized at fair value at the date of the donation. The donation 
was restricted by the donor. See Note (25) for more discussion of this transaction. 

Note (12)- Charity Care 

Comprehend's total expenses of $11,687,260 and $11,691,205 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, included an estimated $98,000 (2024) and $97,000 (2023) for providing service to 
charity clients. The estimated costs of providing charity services are based upon data derived from 
Comprehend's cost accounting system. 

Note (13)- Liquidity and Availability of Financial Assets 

The following table reflects the Organization's financial assets as of the consolidated statement of financial 
position date, reduced by amounts not available for general use within one year because of contractual or 
donor-imposed restrictions or internal designations. As part of the Organization's liquidity management, it 
has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other 
obligations come due. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
Certificates of deposit 
Accounts receivable - client, net 
Accounts receivable - grants and contracts 
Investments 

Note (14)- Provider Relief Funds Payable 

2024 
$ 1,339,669 

1,213,663 
647,416 
302,631 

2,038,784 
$ 5,542,163 

2023 
$ 2,659,583 

1,372,347 
591,519 
355,555 

1,971,754 
$ 6,950.758 

During the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2022, it was discovered 
that the Organization did not file the required reporting for the Provider Relief Funds ("PRF") received 
during the year ended June 30, 2021, from the Health Resources and Services Administration ("HRSA"). 
Per the HRSA terms and conditions for acceptance of the PRF grant funding, recipients who do not submit 
a completed report on the use of funds by the applicable reporting deadline are considered non-compliant 
and will receive an official notice indicating that HRSA is seeking repayment of all PRF payments for the 
applicable reporting period. As a result of this discovery, the Organization recorded a Provider Relief Funds 
payable in the amount of $645,311 as of June 30, 2022. 

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, the Organization appealed with HRSA and the Organization 
submitted the required PRF reporting. In a letter from HRSA dated December 14, 2023, the Organization 
was informed that HRSA approved the appeal and the funds did not have to be repaid. For the year ending 
June 30, 2023, the Organization removed the liability from their financial statements and recognized the 
forgiveness of the payable through Other Income on the Consolidated Statements of Activities. 

Note (15)- Multi-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

The Organization contributes to the Kentucky Employees Retirement System ("KERS"), a cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan (the "Plan") administered by the Board of Trustees of 
Kentucky Retirement Systems ("KRS"). The risks of participating in a multi-employer plan are different 
from single-employer plans in the following aspects: 

o Assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to 
employees of other participating employers. 

o If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may 
be borne by the remaining participating employers. 

o If an employer chooses to stop participating in this multi-employer plan, it may be required to pay 
this plan an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability. 

The Plan provides for retirement, disability and death benefits to Plan members. The Commonwealth of 
Kentucky assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the KRS Board of Trustees. 
The KRS issues a publicly available consolidated financial report that includes consolidated financial 
statements and required supplementary information for KERS. That report may be obtained by writing to 
Kentucky Retirement System, Perimeter Park West, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky 40601. 

The Organization's participation in this Plan for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 is outlined 
in the Table below. Unless otherwise noted, the most recent Pension Protection Act ("PP A") zone status 
available is for the Plan's year-end at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The zone status is based on 
information that the Organization received from KERS and is certified by the Plan's actuary. Among other 
factors, plans in the red zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the yellow zone are less 
than 80 percent funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded. 
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Pension Fund 
EIN/Pension Number 
Pension Protection Act Zone Status 2023 
Pension Protection Act Zone Status 2022 
Surcharge Imposed 

Kentucky Employee Retirement System 
61-1332884 
Red 
Red 
No 

Commencing on July 1, 2023, the Organization is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate 
of 9 .60% of annual covered payroll plus their actuarially calculated portion of the unfunded liability of the 
KERS plan. The Organization's estimated portion of the KERS unfunded liability was a significant amount 
in relation to the consolidated financial statements. As of the June 30, 2022 valuation, the Organization's 
portion of the unfunded liability was 0.15450% or $29,064,447. This liability is not recorded on the 
Organization's Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. 

The Organization was required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate of 9.97% of annual covered 
payroll for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

The contribution requirements of Plan members are established by statue and may be changed only by the 
Kentucky General Assembly. The Organization's contributions to KERS for the years ended June 30, 2024 
and 2023 were approximately $1,909,000 and $2,092,000, respectively. These payments were equal to the 
required contributions for each year. 

Due to a change in the KERS policies, the Organization became obligated to make payments to KERS for 
a portion of the unpaid sick leave accumulated by retiring employees. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, this 
potential liability has been estimated to be $18,085 and $52,609, respectively, and has been accrued in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. 

The Organization's fiscal year 2024 and 2023 contracts with the Kentucky Cabinet for Health and Family 
Services were amended to include additional community care funds which were intended to assist 
organizations participating in KERS with the rising contribution rates. The amounts received as a result of 
these amendments were approximately $653,000 and $1,152,000 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. 

Note (16)-Post Employment Health Care Benefits 

Retired employees receive some health care benefits depending on their length of service. In accordance 
with Kentucky Revised Statutes, these benefits are provided and advanced-funded on an actuarially 
determined basis through the KERS plan. 

Note (17) - Medical Malpractice Insurance 

The Organization insures for medical malpractice losses through a claims made policy which, in the opinion 
of management, is adequate to cover losses, if any. The Organization intends to continue to carry medical 
malpractice insurance. 

Note (18)- Contingencies 

Liquidity 

The current economic environment presents not-for-profit organizations with circumstances and challenges, 
which in some cases have resulted in declines in the fair value of assets and declines in funding, constraints 
on liquidity and difficulty obtaining financing. In addition, given the volatility of current economic 
conditions, the values of assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements could 
change, resulting in material future adjustments in asset values and in allowances for accounts receivable 
that could negatively impact the Organization's ability to maintain sufficient liquidity. The consolidated 
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financial statements have been prepared usmg values and information currently available to the 
Organization. 

Grant Funding 

The Organization receives funding from federal and state government agencies, which funds are to be used 
for designated purposes only. For government agency program fees (Medicaid and various grants), if the 
government agency's review indicates that the funds have not been used for the intended purpose, the 
government agency may request a refund of monies advanced or refuse to reimburse the Organization for 
its disbursements. The amount of such future refunds and unreimbursed disbursements, if any, is not 
expected to be significant. Continuation of the Organization's governmental funded programs is predicated 
upon the government agency's satisfaction that the funds provided are being spent as intended and the 
government agency's intent to continue their programs. 

Regulatory Environment 

The Organization operates in a heavily regulated environment. The operations of the Organization are 
subject to the administrative directives, rules and regulations of federal and state regulatory agencies, 
including, but not limited to, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development and the Kentucky Cabinet for Health and Family Services. Such 
administrative directives, rules and regulations are subject to change by an act of Congress, the Kentucky 
General Assembly or an administrative change mandated by various government bodies. Such changes may 
occur with little or inadequate funding to pay for the related cost, including additional administrative 
burden, to comply with a change. 

Note (19)- Leases 

Other than short-term leases, the Organization is a party to operating leases for facilities and other 
equipment. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the right-of-use (ROU) asset had a balance of $108,883 and 
$169,872 and the lease liability totaled $108,883 and $169,872, respectively. The present value of the lease 
asset and liability were calculated utilizing the incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date that 
the Organization could have expected to pay had they financed the purchase of the assets via a traditional 
bank loan. There are renewal options within the leases, which were not considered when assessing the value 
of the ROU asset because the Organization is not reasonably certain that it will exercise its option to renew 
the leases. 

Additional information about the Organization's leases for the years ending June 30, 2024 and 2023 are as 
follows: 

2024 2023 
Lease Costs (included in operating expenses): 

Operating lease costs $ 64,578 $ 42,245 
Operating lease variable costs 
Short-term lease costs 

Total lease costs $ 64!578 42!245 

Other Information: 
Cash paid for amounts included in measuring operating 
lease liabilities: 

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 64,578 $ 39,763 
Lease assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations: 

Operating leases 138,845 
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years) 3.65 3.94 
Weighted average discount rate 2.83% 2.49% 
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Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024: 

Year ending 
June 30, 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 

Thereafter 
Total lease payments 
Less interest 
Present value of lease liabilities 

Note (20)-Fair Value Measurements 

$ 

$ 

32,678 
29,778 
29,778 
22,334 

114,568 
(5,685) 

108,883 

The Organization uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and 
liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures. In accordance with the Fair Value Measurements and 
Disclosures topic of F ASB ASC 820, the fair value of a financial instrument is the price that rould be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. Fair value is best determined based upon quoted market prices. However, in many 
instances, there are no quoted market prices for the Organization's various financial instruments. In cases 
where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or other 
valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the 
discount rate and estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized 
in an immediate settlement of the instrument. 

The recent fair value guidance provides a consistent definition of fair value, which focuses on exit price in 
an orderly transaction (that is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the 
measurement date under current market conditions. If there has been a significant decrease in the volume 
and level of activity for the asset or liability, a change in valuation technique or the use of multiple valuation 
techniques may be appropriate. In such instances, determining the price at which willing market participants 
would transact at the measurement date under current market conditions depends on the facts and 
circumstances and requires the use of significant judgment. The fair value, a reasonable point within the 
range, is most representative of fair value under current market conditions. 

The Organization groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which 
the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. These 
levels are: 

Level 1: Valuation is based upon quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Organization has the ability to access at the measurement date. Level 1 assets and liabilities 
generally include debt and equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market. 
Valuations are obtained from readily available pricing sources for market transactions involving 
identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Valuation is based on inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The valuation may be based on quoted prices 
for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that 
are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term 
of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and 
that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities include 
financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow 
methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which determination of fair 
value requires significant management judgment or estimation. 
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A financial instruments categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

Fair values of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis are as follows: 

Quoted Prices Significant 
In Active Other Significant 

Markets for Observable Unobservable 
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs 

June 30, 2024 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Monft market funds $ 22,225 $ 22,225 $ $ 
Certi 1cates of deposit 2:016:559 2,016,559 

$ 2 038 784 $ 2!038)84 $ $ 

Quoted Prices Significant 
In Active Other Significant 

Markets for Observable Unobservable 
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs 

June 30, 2023 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Money market funds $ 153,381 $ 153,381 $ $ 
Mutual funds / ETFs 938,583 938,583 
Certificates of deposit 879 790 879 790 

$ 1!971:754 $ 1!971:754 $ $ 

No investment securities were transferred between levels during 2024 and 2023. 

Note (21)-Compensated Absences 

The Organization allows for the carryover of unused vacation and sick time accumulated through year-end. 
Accordingly, the Organization has accrued a liability of$259,843 and $295,795 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, for the estimated amount require to settle these future compensated absences. 

Note (22)-Kentucky Medicaid Cost Report Settlement 

Beginning with the 2017 fiscal year, the Organization's annual cost report started containing a Kentucky 
Medicaid Cost Settlement Component. This cost settlement component can result in the Organization 
owing money to the State or being owed money from the State once the cost report is reviewed and finalized. 
The cost settlement process can take 15 months or longer to finalize. Administrative procedures preclude 
final determination of amounts due until after the cost reports are audited or otherwise reviewed and settled 
upon by the respective administrative agencies. During the year ended June 30, 2024, the 2022 cost report 
was settled. During the year ended June 30, 2023, the 2021 cost report was settled. At June 30, 2024, final 
determination has not been made on the cost reports for the years ending June 30, 2024 or 2023. 
Historically, the cost settlement has varied from year to year whether the Organization is owed money or if 
the Organization owes money. The Organization does not feel that it has a system in place to accurately 
estimate the amount of the future cost settlements, as a result nothing has been recorded for the future 
settlements as of June 30, 2024 or 2023. 

Note (23)-Buffalo Trace ASAP 

The Organization serves as the fiscal agent for Buffalo Trace ASAP. Buffalo Trace ASAP has carryover 
funds recorded on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position in Cash and Cash Equivalents and 
Accounts Payable in the amount of $35,479 and $57,003 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Note (24) - Subsequent Events 

Events that occur after the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position date but before the consolidated 
financial statements were available to be issued must be evaluated for recognition or disclosure. The effects 
of subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that existed at the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position date are recognized in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Subsequent 
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events which provide evidence about conditions that existed after the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position date require disclosure in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
Management evaluated the activity of the Organization through November 22, 2024, the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued and concluded that no subsequent events have 
occurred that would require recognition in the consolidated financial statements or disclosure in the notes 
to consolidated financial statements. 

Note (25)-Art Held For Sale 

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, the Organization received a contribution of artwork that has 
been classified as art held for sale on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position in the amount of 
$210,000. The donated art was recognized at fair value at the date of the donation. The fair value was 
determined based on appraisals dated between November 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023. The donation 
is intended to be sold to support the Organization's mission and activities. Costs associated with storing, 
insuring, and maintaining the donated artwork are expensed as incurred. Any costs that can be directly 
attributed to the artwork and enhance its value may be capitalized. Periodically the Organization assesses 
the donated artwork for impairment. If the fair value is determined to be less than the carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized. The value of the donated art held for sale is subject to fluctuations in market 
demand and other economic factors. The donated art held for sale as of June 30, 2024 has a carrying value 
of $210,000 and no impairment losses were recognized related to the donated artwork during the fiscal year. 
There is a donor restriction on the art stating that it cannot be sold for three years. 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL :\1ENTAL HEALTH 

MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

.JUNE, 30 2024 

Comprehend 

Comprehend Cl Holding Parking 
Comprehend, Inc. Prope11ies. Inc. Corporation Prope1iies. Inc. Eliminations Total 

ASSETS 

Current i\ssds: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,191,665 $ 52,021 $ 95,983 $ $ $ 1,339,669 

.'\ccnunts receivable - clients, net allO\vancc 

for credit lnsscs of $4 78. I 87 647,416 647,416 

Accounts n.::ccivabh:: - grants and contracts 302,631 302,631 

Prepaid c:,.;pcnsi.::s and other assets 136.439 12,866 599 149,904 

Tnt;il current assets ___ 2,278, 151 64,887 96,582 2,439,620 

Other :\sscts: 

]ll\C'-11l1l'llh 2,038,784 2,0:18,784 

Ci.:r1i ficatcs nf deposit 1,21:l,66:l 1,2 I 3,663 

Rcs1riclcd deposits ;111d rundcd n::scrvcs 20:l,297 203,297 

.-\rl held fnr sale 210,000 210,000 

I .c\·cr,1gc loans rccci\ cihk: 3,870,717 :l,870,717 

Total other ;1ssc1s 7.333~ 203,297 7,536.461 

Dm.:: frnm Aniliatcs 6:12,487 (6:12,487) 

Right nf us.:: assets. less ,1ccumu!atcd amortiz,1tion 7,3 I 1,051 (7,202,168) I 08,883 

Property ;rnd equipment. less accumulated dcprcci,1tion 937-327 251,325 6,447,233 30,770 7,6(,6,655 

Tot,il ;1:--scts s 18.492, 180 s 519,509 $ 6,543,815 s 30,770 $ (7.8:14,655) s 17,751.619 

LL\BILITH:S A"iD '>ET ASSETS 
Curn:111 Li;1hilitics· 

,,\ccoun1s payable s 140,034 $ 8,000 $ $ s $ 148,034 

,,\ccrucd p;1yroll and rdatl':d expenses 254,221 254,221 

:\ccrm:d \ ,1c,llion pay and sick kavc 259,843 259,84:l 

Other liabi!itii.::s 4,056 4,056 

l)c!Crrcd n;\·cnue 85,7 I 0 85,7 I 0 

Current nrnturit!cs or operating !c,1sc obligation 30,054 30,054 

Current nwturitics of !ong-tcrrn debt 3.373.630 79,460 3,888,066 7,29LI 56 

Total curn:nt liabi!itil'.s 4,143.492 41,516 3,888,066 8,073,074 

Due to Cornpn.:::hcnd. !nc. 565,900 33,842 32,745 (632,487) 

Operating !c;1sc obligations. less current maturities 7,863,062 (7,784,233) 78,829 

Long-tcnn debt. less current maturities 8 I 1,587 2,823,175 3,634,762 

Total li,1hilitics 12,006,554 1,419,003 6,745,083 32,745 (8,4 l 6,720) 11,786,665 

!\cl Assets 
With donor restrictions 210,000 210,000 

Without donor restrictions 

t Jncksig.natcd 6,275,626 (899,494) _(J0_]_,_268) (1,975) 582,065 5,754,954 

To1al net assi..::ts 6,485,626 (899,494) (201,268) (1,975) 582,065 5,964,954 

Tota! liabilities and net assets 18,492,180 $ 5 I 9,509 s 6,543,8 l 5 $ 30,770 $ (7,834,655) $ 17,751,619 
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COMPREIIEi\D, li\C. REGIONAL MEi\TAL IIEALTII 

MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONCLUDED) 

,JUNE, 30 2023 

Comprehend 

Comprehend Cl Holding Parking 
Comprehend, Inc. Properties, Inc. Co1:eoration Properties, Inc. Eliminations Total 

,\SSETS 
Current .,\sscts: 

Cash and cash equivalents s 2,442,966 $ 132,708 $ 83,909 $ s $ 2,659,583 

.i\ccnunts rcccivahk - clients. net n!lowancc 

/'or credit losses of $585.172 591,519 591,519 

Accounts n.::ccivabk - grnnts and contracts 355,555 355,555 

Prepaid c,pc11scs rn1d other ,1sscts 146,136 15,157 12,500 (12,500) I 61.293 

Total current assets 3.536.176 147,865 96,409 (12,500) 3,767,950 

O!hcr :\ssets: 

!11n.::s1rncn!s 1,971,754 1,971,754 

Ci.:rtilicatcs of deposit 1,372,347 1,372,347 

Restricted deposits and funded rcscrn~s 195,752 I 95,752 

Lc\·cr<.1gc loans n.::ccivabk 3,870,717 3,870,717 

Tn1al other cisscts 7.214.8 I 8 195,752 7,410,570 

Due from :\ffi!iatcs 637,547 (637,547) 

Right of'usc ,1sscts. h::ss accumulated amortization 7,572,898 (7,403,026) 169,872 

llropl.'.'rty and i..:-ql1ipn1cnt. less acc111nul,1tcd depreciation 802,836 255.348 6,631.229 30,770 7,720,183 

Toti! asscls $ 19,764,275 $ 598,965 s 6,727,638 $ 30,770 s (8,053,073) $ 19,068,575 

LL\BILITllcS AND NET ,\SSETS 
( ·urn;nt ! ,iahi!itics: 

:\ccounts payable s I 15,300 $ $ s s (12,500) $ I 02,800 

,\ccrued payroll and related expenses 265,403 265,403 

,\ccrnccl \·acation p:1y and sick !can: 295. 795 295,795 
Other liabilities 4,056 4,056 

Dd'crrcd ri.:\·enue 134,846 134,846 

C'urri.:nt maturities of opi.:rating h::ase obligation 64,578 64,578 
Current ma!urities of long-term di.:bt 135,692 27,754 163,446 

Tota! curri.:nt liabilities 1,011,614 31,810 (12,500) 1,030,924 

l)ui.: to Comprehend. !nc. 582,588 23,214 31,745 (637,547) 

Opcrnting !c,1sc oblig,1tions. less current maturities 7,799,352 (7,694,058) 105,294 

Long-term debt. less current maturities 3,373,787 838,318 6,616,730 I 0,828,835 

Total liabilities 12,184,753 1,452,716 6,639,944 31,745 (8,344, l 05) 11,965,053 

\le! .,\ssi.::ts: 

Without donor restrictions 

l: ndcsignatcd 7,579,522 (853,751) 87,694 (975) 291,032 7, I 03,522 

Total nct ,1sscts 7,579,522 (853,751) 87,694 (975) 291,032 7,103,522 -
Total !i,1hilitics and net nsse!s 19,764.275 $ 598,965 $ 6,727,638 $ 30,770 s (8,053,073) $ 19,068,575 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH 
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLI DA TING STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

Comprehend 

Comprehend CI Holding Parking 

Comprehend, Inc. Properties. Inc. Corporation Properties, Inc. Eliminations Total 

WITI IOlJT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

Revenues and Support· 

Net client service revenue $ 8,030,551 $ $ $ $ $ 8,030,551 

State and local grants 1,525,296 1,525,296 

In-kind donations 8 I ,889 81,889 

Interest income 178,107 146 4 178,257 

l,wcstment income (loss) (24,982) (24,982) 

linrealized gains (losses) on investments 62,191 62,191 

Workshop sales 44,242 44,242 

Rental income 46,840 204,637 150,000 (150,000) 251,477 

Other income 379,168 21,215 (13,301) 387,082 

Fundraising income 60,062 60,062 

Total revenues and support I 0,383,364 225,998 150,004 (163,301) 10,596,065 

E,penscs 

Program Expenses 

Behavioral I lcalth 6,869,083 6,869,083 

Intellectual Developmental 1,286,645 1,286,645 

I lousing 714,044 117,006 (13,301) 817,749 

Total Program E,penses 8,869,772 I 17,006 (13,301) 8,973,477 

Supporting Services E,pcnscs 

General and administrative 2,809,362 154,735 438,966 1,000 (441,033) 2,963,030 

Fundraising 8,126 8,126 

Total 1:,penscs 11,687,260 271,741 438,966 1,000 (454,334) 11,944,633 

Change in net assets \\·ithout donor restrictions (1,303,896) (45,743) (288,962) (1,000) 291,033 (1,348,568) 

WITI IOliT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

Contribution income 210,000 210,000 

Change in nd assets ,vith donor restrictions 210,000 210,000 

Change in net assets (1,093,896) (45,743) (288,962) (1,000) 291,033 (1,138,568) 

Net assets, beginning o!'ycar 7,579,522 (853,751) 87,694 (975) 291,032 7,103,522 

Net assets. end o!·)car $ 6,485,626 $ $ (899,494) $ $ (201,268) $ $ (1,975) $ $ 582,065 $ 5,964,954 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH 
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES (CONCLUDED) 
FOR TIIE YEAR ENDED .JlJNE 30, 2023 

Comprehend 

Comprehend CI Holding Parking 

Comprehend. Inc. Properties, Inc. Corporation Properties, Inc. Eliminations Total 

WITI 1O\JT DONOR RESTRICTIONS: 

Revenues and Support: 

Net client service revcnue $ 8,983.726 $ $ $ $ $ 8,983,726 

State and local grants 2. 16 I ,336 2,161.336 
In-kind donations 40.997 40.997 

Interest income 59,603 88 4 59.695 

Investment income (loss) 25.838 25,838 

lJnreali1nl gains (losses) on investments ( 13.113) (13,113) 

Workshop sales 41,405 41,405 

Rental income 72,450 179,150 150,000 (150,000) 251.600 

Other income 1,237.692 128 (10,937) 1,226,883 
Fundraising income 10,715 10,715 

Total revenues and support 12,620,649 179,366 150,004 ( 160.937) 12,789,082 

Expenses: 

Program l:xpenscs 

Behavioral Health 6,149,290 6,149.290 
Intellectual Developmental l.336,374 1,336,374 
I lousing 1,097,312 204,506 (10,937) 1,290.881 

Total Program Expenses 8,582,976 204,506 (10,937) 8,776,545 

Supporting Services Expenses 

Cieneral and administrative 3,098,229 48,397 428,241 975 (441,032) 3,134,810 
Fundraising 10,000 10.000 

Total Expenses 11,691,205 252,903 428,241 975 (451,969) __ 1_1,921,355 

Change in net assets without donor restrictions 929,444 (73,537) (278,237) (975) 291,032 867,727 

Net assets. beginning or year 6,650,078 (780,214) 365,93 I ___ 6,235.795 

Net assets. end or year $ 7.579,522 $ (853. 751) $ 87.694 $ (975) $ 291,032 $ 7, I 03,522 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH 
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

Comprehend 

Comprehend Cl Holding Parking 
Comprehend. Inc Properties, Inc. Corporation Properties. Inc. Eliminations Total 

C1sh Flo\\'.s From Operating ;\ctivi!ics: 

Change in nct assets $ ( 1.093,896) s (45,743) $ (288.962) s (1,000) s 291,033 s (LI 38.568) 
Ad_iustmcnts -

Dcprcci,1ti<)ll 251.602 36,926 I 83,996 472,524 

{Ciain) Loss on disposal of assds (143.483) (143,483) 

lJnrc,1lizcd (g<tin) loss 011 i,wcstmcnts (62. 191) (62,191) 

(Ciain) loss on salt.: ofinn::stmcnts 63.689 63.689 
:\111or1i1.,11io11 or cklcrrcd !inancing cosls 2,729 94,511 97.240 
ProYision for (rccovcry ot) credit losses (106,985) ( I 06.985) 
Opcrnling lease liability and ROU asset 1-!'l:pcns-:: 291 .033 (291,033) 
Changes in opcr,1ting ,1sscts and li,1bilitil".s -

Clknt <H.x:ounts nxciYabli..:: 51,088 (2,991) 48,097 
Fcdcr,11 ct111tract rccciv:1bk 52.924 52.924 
Oihi.:r n;cci,·,1hlc:,; 

Prcp,1id c.-..:pcnscs and othl.'.'r assets 9.697 5,282 11.901 26,880 

Accounts p,1ynhle 24. 734 8,000 32. 734 

Due to from :\ffiliate 5,060 (16,688) 10,628 1.000 
:\ccrucd p,iyrol! and relc1kd c-..:pcnscs (11. 182) (11.182) 

:\ccrued \'<JC<1tio11 pay and sick lca,·e (35,952) (35,952) 
Oth1.;r liahi!itil.'.'s 

lkkrrcd rc\Tnue (49,136) (49,136) 

\kt c,ish prn\'ich::d by (used in) operating activities (752,998) (12,485) 12.074 (753,409) 

C1sh Flows From Investing /\cti\'itics: 

Purchase ofprnpcrty and equipment (418,623) (32.903) (451,526) 
Increase in certifkates of deposits 158.684 158,684 
Proceeds from the dispos,1! of assets 176.013 176,0 I 3 
Proce1.;ds from the s,t!e of investments 931,316 931,316 
Purchase or inn:st1ncn!s (999,844) (999,844) 

Net cash pro\·idcd by (used in) investing activities (152.454) --- (32,903) (185,357) 

Cash Flows Frorn Financing Activities: 

:\cquisition of art held for sale (210,000) (210.000) 
P,1yme11ts on long-term debt (135,849) (27.754) (163,603) 

\kt ec1sh 11ro\·ided by (used in) financing activities (345,849) (27,754) (373.603) 

'.\Jct incrl.'.'ase (ckcrl.'.'asc) in cash and cash cqui\'alcnts (1,251.301) (73,142) 12,074 ( 1.3 12,369) 

Cash and c,ish cqui\·alents. beginning of year 2,442.966 328.460 83,909 2,855,335 

Cash and cush equi\·alcnts. end ofyl.'.'ar $ I. 191.665 s 255,318 $ 95,983 s s $ 1,542,966 

Cash and c,ish cqui,·alents I. 191.665 52,021 95.983 1.339.669 
Restrickd deposits and f"unded resl.'.'1'\'es 203,297 203,297 

Cash and c;1sh equi\·;dcnts. end of year s 1,191,665 $ 255.318 95,983 $ s $ 1.542.966 

Suppkrnc111,1l d.i1a: 

Interest p,1id $ I 90.49 I s 54,058 $ I 16.743 s $ $ JG !,292 

Le,1sc ,1ssl.'.'ts ohl:1incd in c.-..:changc for 

lease obligations - operating s s $ $ $ $ 
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Cash Flo\\'s From Operating .1\cti\'1lics: 

Change in nd assets 
-\djustmc111s -

Dqm::ciation 
(Ci,1in) l,os:-- on disposal of assets 
t:rncnli:r.cd (gain) loss 011 investments 

Forgivcncss of PRF lic1hility 
-\morti;,ation nf dc[Crrcd financing costs 

Change in al!o\\';mcc for uncol!cctiblc accounts n::ccivnb!c 
Opcrnting !case liability and Rot.: asset expense 
Changes in npcrn!ing ;1sscts ,ind lic1bilitics -
Client ;1ccounts receivable 

Feder.ii contnict n:cc1\·,1hlc 
O1hcr receivables 
Prepaid expenses ;rnd other assets 
.-\cco11111S payable 
Due lo/ from Affiliate 

,\ccrucd payroll ;md related o:pcnscs 
Accrued vacation pay ,rnd sick leave 
Other liabilities 
Deferred revenue 

Net c,ish pro\·idcd by (used in) opcrnting activities 

Cash F!nws From ln\·csting Activities: 
Purchase nf property and ccp1ipment 
Increase in certificates of deposits 
Proceeds from the disposal of assets 
Purchase or investments 

!\'ct cash pro\·idcd by (used in) investing activities 

( ·ash 1:1ows From 1-'inancing ,\ctivitics: 

Payments on long-term debt 

i\ct i.;;ish prO\·ickd hy (used in) fimrncing activities 

'\ct i11cn.:,1sc (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equi\cilenls. beginning ofyec1r 

Cash and cash cqui\'alcnls, cnd ofyc;ir 

C;1sh ,rnd i.;;1:-h equi\'alcnts 

Restricted depnsi1s and fonded rcser\'es 

Cash and cash equi\'alcnts, end of year 

Supplemental data: 
Interest p,1id 

Lease assets obtained in i.:,ch,mgc f01 

lease obligations - operating 

COMPREHEND, INC. REGlO1'AL MENTAL HEALTH 
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CONSOLIOATl1'G STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONCLUDED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED .JUNE 30, 2023 

Comprehend. Inc 

929.444 

189,858 
(261,277) 

13, 1 !3 

(645,311) 

550.874 

291,032 

( 428.297) 
(164,717) 

89,028 
(72.280) 

(98.451) 
(I 19,14 I) 

I. 101 

87,577 

362,553 

(230,530) 
(3,307) 

461,909 
(35.468) 

192,604 

(129,059) 

(129,059) 

426,098 

2.016,868 -

s 2.442.966 $ 

2.442.966 

-

s 2.442. 966 s 

s 19.807 
= 

s 138,845 $ 

Comprehend 
Pro_Ee1ties, Inc. 

(73,537) 

34. 789 

2,729 

(6,060) 
(35) 

87,976 

(733) 

45.129 

(33,045) 

(33,045) 

(26,147) 

(26,147) 

(14,063) 

342,523 

328,460 

132,708 

195,752 

328,460 

55,665 

$ 

s 

$ 

Cl Holding 
Cot~oration 

(278,237) 

183,946 

94,511 

( 12.500) 

9,500 

(2,780) 

(2,780) 

86,689 

83,909 

83. 909 

83,909 

I 16,743 
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s 

-

$ 

s 

$ 

Comprehend 
Parking 

Pro.ee1ties. Inc. 

(975) 

975 

Eliminations 

291,032 

(29 I ,032) 

12,500 

(12,500) 

s 

Total 

867.727 

408,593 

(261.277) 
13,113 

(645,311) 
97,240 

550,874 

(428,297) 
(164,717) 

82,968 
(84,815) 

(I 19, 14 I) 
1,101 

(733) 

87,577 

404,902 

(263,575) 

(3,307) 
461,909 

(35,468) 

I 59.559 

(155,206) 

(155,206) 

409,255 

___:h446.080 

s 2.855,335 

2,659.583 
I 95. 752 

2,855,335 

192.215 

138.845 



COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH -
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AW ARDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 
Grantor/Program or Cluster Title 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 
Passed-through Kentucky Cabinet for Health 
and Family Services: 

Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment 
of Substance Abuse 

Block Grants for Community Mental Health 
Services 

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 

Federal 
AL 

Number 

93.959 

93.958 

Projects of Regional and National Significance 93.243 

Comprehensive Community Mental Health 
Services for Children with Serious Emotional 
Disturbances 

Opioid STR 

Title IV-E Prevention Program 

93.104 

93.788 

93.472 

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 

Corporation of National and Community Service 
Foster Grandparent/Senior Companion Cluster 
Direct Program: 

Foster Grandparent Program 94.011 
Total Corporation of National and Community Service 

Total expenditures of Federal Awards 

* Denotes major program. 

Pass-Through 
Grantor's 
Number 

729 2200002949 

729 2200002949 

729 2200002949 

729 2200002949 

729 2200002343 

736 2200004146 

21SFCKY003 

$ 

Passed 
Through to 

Subrecipients 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule. 
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$ 

Federal 
Expenditures 

719,329 * 

335,212 * 

74,356 

24,200 

58,300 

155 494 

1,366,891 

270 754 
270 754 

1,637,645 



COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH -
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. 

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF 
FEDERAL A WARDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL A WARDS 

NOTE A - REPORTING ENTITY 

The consolidated financial statements of Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation 
Board, Inc. and Affiliates consist of four entities as discussed in Note (1) to the consolidated financial 
statements. The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the "Schedule") presented on the previous 
page only includes the activity of Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, 
Inc. due to the fact that the affiliated entities either do not receive or expend federal awards or they 
separately report their federal awards, if reporting thresholds are met by any of the Affiliates. The federal 
activity of the following Affiliates is excluded from the Schedule: 

Comprehend Properties, Inc. 

CI Holding Corporation 

Comprehend Parking Properties, Inc. 

NOTE B-BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal award activity of Comprehend, Inc. 
Regional Mental Health- Mental Retardation Board, Inc. ("Comprehend") under programs of the federal 
government for the year ended June 30, 2024. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance 
with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of operations of Comprehend, it is not intended 
and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of Comprehend. 

NOTE C - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures 
are recognized following, the cost principles contain in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of 
expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 

NOTED - INDIRECT COST RATES 

Comprehend, Inc. has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Directors 
Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health -
Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates 
Maysville, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of Comprehend, Inc. Regional 
Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates (the "Organization"), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of 
activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 22, 2024. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and perfonning our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the 
Organization's internal control over financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
consolidated fmancial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not 
identified. We identified a certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying Schedule of 
Findings and Questioned Costs as items 2024-001 and 2024-002 that we consider to be a material weaknesses. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization's consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of their compliance with ceriain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect 
on the consolidated fmancial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
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was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 

Organization's Response to Findings 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on Organization's response 
to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned 
Costs. The Organization's response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Organization's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

As~~n/2~ ~--eJ4 1 pse-
November 22, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR 
EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE 

REQUIRED BY UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

Board of Directors 
Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health -
Mental Retardation Board, Inc. and Affiliates 
Maysville, Kentucky 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Comprehend, Inc. Regional Mental Health - Mental Retardation Board, Inc.'s 
("Comprehend") compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the 
0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of Comprehend's major 
federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2024. Comprehend's major federal programs are identified in 
the Summary of Auditor's Results section of the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. 

', 

In our opinion, Comprehend complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year 
ended June 30, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section 
of our report. 

We are required to be independent of Comprehend and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. 
Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Comprehend's compliance with compliance requirements 
referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements oflaws, 
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Comprehend's federal 
programs. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on 
Comprehend's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud 
is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 
it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about Comprehend's 
compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding Comprehend's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of Comprehend' s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal 
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Comprehend's internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 
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Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

KoltAAJJ~~~✓ ?se--
Ashla:;4.entucky 
November 22, 2024 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH -
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

A. SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 

Type of Auditor's report issued on whether the consolidated financial 
statements audited were prepared in accordance with GAAP: 

Internal Control over financial reporting: 

Unmodified 

X no Material weakness( es) identified? 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? 

yes 

yes x none reported 

Noncompliance material to the financial 
statements noted? 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major federal programs: 

Material weakness( es) identified? 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? 

Type of auditor's report issued on 
compliance for major federal programs: 

Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance 
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? 

Identification of major federal programs: 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Unmodified 

yes 

► ALN #93.958 Block Grants for Community Mental Health Services 

X no 

X no 

x none reported 

X no 

► ALN #93.959 Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse 

Dollar threshold to distinguish between Type A 
and Type B Programs: 

Auditee qualified as 
a low risk auditee? 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH -
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONCLUDED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

B. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

2024-001 - Account Reconciliations 

Condition: During our audit, we noted some general ledger accounts that were not properly reconciled when 
we arrived for the audit or the account balance is only getting reconciled annually, the accounts include (but 
were not limited to) deferred revenue, grant revenue, accounts receivable - grants and contracts, and 
allowance for credit losses. 

Criteria: Account balances should be reconciled and reviewed monthly to ensure that all supporting 
subsidiary ledgers agree to the general ledger. 

Cause: The current employees have been working diligently to discover weaknesses in internal control and 
establish new procedures; however, they have not fully completed the process which has led to some 
accounts still going unreconciled each month. 

Effect: This resulted in the account balances being incorrect when we arrived for our audit procedures. 

Indication of Repeat Finding: This is a repeat finding of 2023-001. 

Recommendation: We recommend that controls and procedures be put into place to ensure that account 
balances are properly reconciled from the supporting subsidiary ledgers or other documentation to the 
general ledger and that the reconciliations are properly reviewed by a second person to help ensure accuracy. 
Any reconciling differences should be corrected before the accounting records are closed for the month end. 

Management's Response: To address the issue of accounts not being reconciled monthly due to the EHR 
system's inability to provide timely and accurate reports, we propose the following corrective actions: 

Manual Reconciliation Process: 
• Develop a standardized interim manual reconciliation process until the EHR reporting issues are 

resolved. 
• Assign billing manager to review billing and payment data from the EHR system and cross­

reference it with financial records monthly. 
• Use spreadsheets or alternative software tools to document and track discrepancies. 

Develop Workarounds: 
• Work with IT and the EHR vendor to identify temporary workarounds for extracting accurate data. 
• Create custom reports or scripts to address reporting gaps, if feasible. 

Establish Reconciliation Checkpoints: 
• Implement bi-weekly or weekly reconciliation checkpoints to reduce month-end workload. 
• Use these checkpoints to identify trends or recurring issues earlier in the cycle. 

2024-002 - Accounts Receivable 

Condition: During our audit, we selected three older (270+ days) open accounts receivable items per 
guarantor to test. We requested documentation showing that the billing department was still attempting to 
collect these items. Based on the responses that we received from the billing department we noted the 
following: 
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• There were several items that were not collected/collectible due to lack of timely filing. 

• There were several instances where the remaining balance of partial payments do not appear to be 
followed up on. 

• It appears that the billing department does not maintain any notes or other records in the billing files 
to document their attempts to collect outstanding accounts receivable balances. 

Criteria: Services performed by the Organization should be billed properly and timely. Items that are not 
paid timely or are only partially paid should be followed up on and the process of following up on these 
items should be documented. 

Cause: Failure to implement proper internal controls and procedures over the billing process. 

Effect: The Organization is performing client services and not getting fulling paid by the guarantors. 

Recommendation: We recommend that controls and procedures be put into place to ensure that all services 
are billed properly and timely. Furthermore, we recommend that management implements internal controls 
and expectations over how the billing department will document their attempts to collect outstanding 
accounts receivable items. 

Management's Response: To address these concerns, we will implement the following actions: 

1. Strengthening Billing Procedures: 
o Develop and document standardized procedures to ensure all services are billed promptly 

and accurately. 
o Provide ongoing training "as needed" for billing department staff on proper billing processes 

and any regulatory updates. 
o Introduce checks within the billing system to flag discrepancies or delays. 

2. Enhancing Internal Controls: 
o Establish a quality assurance process to review a sample of billing records periodically to 

confirm accuracy and completeness. 
o Create a reporting system to monitor billing timelines and identify any delays or errors, with 

appropriate escalation protocols. 
3. Improving Documentation of Collection Efforts: 

o Implement a centralized system to log and track all attempts to collect outstanding accounts 
receivable, ensuring transparency and accountability. 

o Require billing staff to document all communications with clients, insurance providers, and 
other stakeholders regarding unpaid balances. 

o Regularly review and audit these logs to confirm compliance with established expectations. 
4. Setting Clear Expectations for Collections: 

o Define measurable performance metrics for the billing department regarding collections, 
such as response time and resolution rates. 

o Conduct monthly reviews with billing department manager to evaluate progress and address 
any barriers to timely collections. 

5. Ongoing Oversight and Monitoring: 
o Assign the billing manager the responsibility to oversee the effectiveness of these measures, 

with quarterly updates to the executive team. 
o Incorporate findings from periodic audits into continuous process improvements. 

By implementing these steps, we aim to ensure the integrity of our billing and collection processes and 
maintain financial stability for the organization. 

C. FEDERAL A WARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

There were no findings in the current year. 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH -
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

Finding Number: 2024-001 

Corrective Action Plan: To address the issue of accounts not being reconciled monthly due to the EHR 
system's inability to provide timely and accurate reports, we propose the fo llowing corrective actions: 

Manual Reconciliation Process: 
• Develop a standardized interim manual reconciliation process until the EHR reporting issues are 

resolved. 
• Assign billing manager to review billing and payment data from the EHR system and cross­

reference it with financial records monthly. 
• Use spreadsheets or alternative software tools to document and track discrepancies. 

Develop Workarounds: 
• Work with IT and the EHR vendor to identify temporary workarounds for extracting accurate data. 
• Create custom reports or scripts to address reporting gaps, if feasible. 

Establish Reconciliation Checkpoints: 
• Implement bi-weekly or weekly reconciliation checkpoints to reduce month-end workload. 
• Use these checkpoints to identify trends or recurring issues earlier in the cycle. 

Estimated Completion: Immediately 

Responsible Contact Person: Donna Hicks, CFO 

Finding Number: 2024-002 

Corrective Action Plan: To address these concerns, we will implement the following actions: 

• Strengthening Billing Procedures: 
o Develop and document standardized procedures to ensure all services are billed promptly 

and accurately. 
o Provide ongoing training "as needed" for billing department staff on proper billing processes 

and any regulatory updates. 
o Introduce checks within the billing system to flag discrepancies or delays. 
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• Enhancing Internal Controls: 
o Establish a quality assurance process to review a sample of billing records periodically to 

confirm accuracy and completeness. 
o Create a reporting system to monitor billing timelines and identify any delays or errors, with 

appropriate escalation protocols. 
• Improving Documentation of Collection Efforts: 

o Implement a centralized system to log and track all attempts to collect outstanding accounts 
receivable, ensuring transparency and accountability. 

o Require billing staff to document all communications with clients, insurance providers, and 
other stakeholders regarding unpaid balances. 

o Regularly review and audit these logs to confirm compliance with established expectations. 
• Setting Clear Expectations for Collections: 

o Define measurable performance metrics for the billing department regarding collections, 
such as response time and resolution rates. 

o Conduct monthly reviews with billing department manager to evaluate progress and address 
any barriers to timely collections. 

• Ongoing Oversight and Monitoring: 
o Assign the billing manager the responsibility to oversee the effectiveness of these measures, 

with quarterly updates to the executive team. 
o Incorporate findings from periodic audits into continuous process improvements. 

Estimated Completion: Immediately 

Responsible Contact Person: Donna Hicks, CFO 
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COMPREHEND, INC. REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH -
MENTAL RETARDATION BOARD, INC. AND AFFILIATES 

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

2023-001-Account Reconciliations 

Condition: During our audit, we noted several general ledger accounts that were not being properly 
reconciled, the large area impacted was accounts receivable. 

Recommendation: We recommend that controls and procedures be put into place to ensure that account 
balances are properly reconciled from the supporting subsidiary ledgers or other documentation to the 
general ledger and that the reconciliations are properly reviewed by a second person to help ensure accuracy. 
Any reconciling differences should be corrected before the accounting records are closed for the month end. 

Management's Response: All balance sheet accounts are to be reviewed individually and separately tracked 
and reconciled. Finance is focused on reconciling all accounts quarterly and working toward a process to 
reconcile AR based on the limited tools currently available. The organization has made significant 
improvements in the overall account reconciliation and documentation process. The Finance Team is 
responsible for reconciling all Balance Sheet Accounts at month end with the CFO to review and sign off 
monthly. All discrepancies will be dealt with individually and an action plan will be implemented to limit 
the number of discrepancies. Note that Finance along with the CEO, CFO and COO are in current 
discussions with a new EHR system that will enable timely and accurate reporting of AR accounts. 

Status: Repeated as 2024-001. 

FEDERAL A WARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

2023-002 - Recordkeeping of Expense Allocations (#93.958 Block Grants for Community Mental 
Health Services and #93.959 Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse) 

Condition: Management could not provide the support to show the justification for how certain program 
expenditures were allocated (specifically payroll). 

Recommendation: We recommend that Comprehend maintains supporting documentation of all expense 
allocations and have it on file and readily available for the audit. 

Status: Finding was not repeated in 2024. 
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